Mastergradsoppgave

Effects of high and moderate intensity aerobic exercise on excess postexercise oxygen consumption in men with metabolic syndrome

Ida Larsen

MKØD0606 Faculty of Teachers Education North-Troendelag University College

Levanger, Norway

THINT

September 2012

Effects of high and moderate intensity aerobic exercise on excess post-exercise oxygen consumption in men with metabolic syndrome

Ida Larsen Faculty of Teachers Education North-Troendelag University College Levanger, Norway September 2012



SAMTYKKE TIL HØGSKOLENS BRUK AV MASTEROPPGAVE I KROPPSØVING

Forfatter:	Ida Larsen
Norsk tittel:	 <u>Effekten av høy og moderat intensitets utholdenhetstrening på det</u> <u>overskytende oksygenforbruket hos menn med metabolsk syndrom</u>
Engelsk tittel:	<u>Effects of high and moderate intensity aerobic exercise on excess post-</u> exercise oxygen consumption in men with metabolic syndrome
Kryss av:	
x	Jeg samtykker i at oppgaven gjøres tilgjengelig på høgskolens bibliotek og at den kan publiseres på internett i fulltekst via BIBSYS Brage, HiNTs åpne arkiv
	Min oppgave inneholder taushetsbelagte opplysninger og må derfor ikke gjøres tilgjengelig for andre
	Kan frigis fra: <u>30.09.2012</u>
Dato:	
Ida Larsen	

Underskrift

Norsk sammendrag

Formål: Fysisk aktivitet er en sentral faktor i forebygging og behandling av metabolsk syndrom, hvor effektiv vektreduksjon og økt energiforbruk er med på å redusere alle risikofaktorer knyttet til metabolsk syndrom. Fysisk aktivitet med høy intensitet krever mer energi under selve aktiviteten. Dette kan videre bidra til økt energiforbruk i restitusjonsfasen etter trening. Målet med denne studien var å undersøke de akutte effektene etter en treningsøkt på det overskytende oksygenforbruket (EPOC) mellom tre typer utholdenhetstrening hos menn med metabolsk syndrom. Metode: Syv menn fra 39 til 70 år med metabolsk syndrom deltok i denne studien. Alle gjennomførte tre ulike treningsøkter; ett intervall (1-AIT), fire intervaller (4-AIT) og 47 minutter kontinuerlig moderat trening (CME), på tre separate testdager, med min. 48 timers mellomrom. Hvilemetabolisme ble målt før trening, EPOC ble målt etter trening til hvileverdier var nådd. Resultater: En økning i O₂ opptaket over hvileverdier med en varighet på 70,4 \pm 24,8 min. (4-AIT), 35,9 \pm 17,3 min. (1-AIT) og 45,6 \pm 17,3 min. (CME) ble observert. Total gjennomsnittlig EPOC var på 2,9 \pm 1,7 l O_2 (4-AIT), 1,3 ± 1,1 l O_2 (1-AIT) og 1,4 ± 1,1 l O_2 (CME). Det var signifikante forskjeller (p< 0,05) mellom 4-AIT og CME, og mellom 1-AIT og 4-AIT på varighet og mengde av EPOC, hvor 4-AIT varte lengst i antall minutter og total EPOC i liter var også høyest etterfulgt av CME og 1-AIT. Konklusjon: Total EPOC var størst etter 4-AIT. Disse data tyder på at treningens intensitet har en signifikant positiv effekt på EPOC hos menn med metabolsk syndrom.

Nøkkelord: Intensitet, metabolsk syndrom, oksygenopptak, trening.

Abstract

Purpose: Physical activity is central in the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome, as effective weight reduction and increased energy expenditure reduce all risk factors associated with metabolic syndrome. High intensity aerobic exercise requires more energy during the activity. It may also induce superior energy expenditure during post-exercise recovery. The primary aim of this study was to compare the excess post-exercise oxygen consumption (EPOC) of three different exercise sessions of aerobic exercise in men with metabolic syndrome after a single exercise session. Methods: Seven men aged 39 and 70 years with metabolic syndrome participated in this study. All subjects performed three aerobic exercise treatments: One aerobic interval (1-AIT), four aerobic intervals (4-AIT), and 47 minutes of continuous moderate exercise (CME) in separate days with at least 48 hours between each test day. Resting metabolic rate (RMR) was measured pre-exercise and used as baseline values. EPOC was measured until baseline metabolic rate was re-established. **Results:** An increase in O₂ uptake lasting for 70.4 (\pm 24.8) min. (4-AIT), 35.9 \pm 17.3 min. (1-AIT) and 45.6 ± 17.3 min. (CME) was observed. EPOC was 2.9 ± 1.71 O₂ (4-AIT), 1.3 ± 1.11 O_2 (1-AIT) and $1.4 \pm 1.1 \mid O_2$ (CME). There were significant differences (p<0.05) between 4-AIT and CME and 1-AIT. The 4-AIT exercise session produces the highest average EPOC, followed by CME and then 1-AIT. Conclusion: Total EPOC was highest after 4-AIT. These data suggest that exercise intensity has a significant positive effect on EPOC in men with metabolic syndrome.

Keywords: Exercise, intensity, metabolic syndrome, oxygen consumption.

Table of contents

1 INTRODUCTION	2
2 METHODS	5
Subject	5
Experimental approach to the problem	5
Pre-experimental procedures	6
Experimental protocol	6
Resting metabolic rate measurement	7
Exercise training protocol	8
EPOC measurement	8
Area under the curve calculation	8
Statistical analysis	9
3 RESULTS	9
4 DISCUSSION	.13
Conclusion	17
5 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	17
6 REFERENCES	18

1 Introduction

Metabolic syndrome is a cluster of interrelated risk factors for cardiovascular disease (CVD). It is estimated that approximately 20-25 per cent of the world's adult population suffer from metabolic syndrome (1). The syndrome is associated with the global epidemics of diabetes and obesity (2), and the last two decades have witnessed a stark increase in the number of patients with metabolic syndrome. The components that most commonly identify metabolic syndrome are central obesity, type 2 diabetes, impaired glucose tolerance or impaired fasting glycaemia, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia and hypertension (2). Individuals with metabolic syndrome are at increased risk of developing diabetes type 2 and cardiovascular disease, as well as increased mortality from cardiovascular disease (3). Exercise seems to have positive outcomes concerning preventing and reversing metabolic syndrome (4, 5).

Furthermore, abdominal obesity is closely related to metabolic syndrome. Effective weight reduction and increased energy expenditure decreases all risk factors associated with metabolic syndrome (2). Exercise is one of the key variables that can shift the energy equation in the direction of weight loss (6) and many exercise protocols designed to induce fat loss have focused on regular steady state aerobic exercise at moderate intensity (7). Growing evidence suggest that high intensity exercise has the potential to be an effective exercise protocol for weight reduction in overweight individuals (7).

A significant percentage of total caloric expenditure is due to the resting metabolic rate (RMR), where RMR is the energy expended by the active cell mass to sustain normal body function at rest (8). Previous research indicate that RMR is mainly dependent on fat-free mass (FFM) (9, 10), and some authors claim that chronic exercise produces training adaptions that may lead to higher RMR values (11). Changes in RMR may also occur over time following a single session of exercise (11), and such a session can lead to increased lipid oxidation for several hours following the exercise session (12). High intensity exercise may result in greater fat loss caused by secretion of lipolytic hormones, like growth hormone and epinephrine, which is suggested to cause superior post-exercise energy expenditure and fat oxidation (18). Additionally, research suggests that an exercise intensity of at least 70% of VO_{2max} is ideal optimal for weight loss (23).

Oxygen consumption is elevated above resting levels after exercise. This state is referred to as excess post-exercise oxygen consumption (EPOC) (13) and has been showed to be influenced by training status, exercise intensity and duration and the thermic effect of food (14, 16). The recovery process is biphasic, with an initial fast phase of recovery, lasting from 10 seconds to a few minutes. This is followed by a slower phase lasting from a few minutes to several hours (13). Several mechanisms are attributed to EPOC, such as replenishment of oxygen stores in muscle and blood, increased circulation and lactate removal, resynthesis of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and creatine phosphate (CrP), increased heart rate, ventilation, body temperature and triglyceride/fatty acid cycling (14-16).

A number of studies have examined the effect of exercise intensity on EPOC (15-20), and have suggested that VO_2 post-exercise is higher and more persistent for exercise of higher intensity (14). Gore and Withers (21) reported that exercise intensity is the most important determinant of the EPOC, as it explains the EPOC variance five times more than just exercise duration or total work accomplished. Bahr and Sejersted (15) reported a positive and exponential relationship between exercise intensity and EPOC, where the EPOC threshold appears to be at least above 50% of VO_{2max} .

There are few studies on the effect of exercise on EPOC in obese subjects. One study compared EPOC after short (30 min) exercise in obese versus lean men demonstrating reduced EPOC in obese men (16). Another study demonstrated that the alteration was related to lower growth hormone response and elevated cortisol response to exercise in the obese subjects (22). Exercise O_2 uptake relative to body weight was, however, greater for the low-fat-mass group.

A recent study in healthy young men showed that exercise at 73% of VO_{2max} for 45 minutes resulted in a significant increase in EPOC, persisting for 14 hours (23). However, others have concluded that the energy expenditure throughout EPOC adds minimally compared to the energy expenditure during the exercise session (21, 24). No studies have focused on EPOC after high intensity interval exercise, though it is suggested that EPOC magnitude is significantly greater when the aerobic exercise sessions were divided into two parts (25, 26). EPOC was significantly greater when 30-minute (25) and 50-minute (26) aerobic exercise sessions were divided into two parts. The amount of EPOC and post-exercise energy expenditure is suggested to be highest when the body experiences significant physiological stress like that of high intensity aerobic exercise (15, 23, 27). To the best of our knowledge, no studies have investigated EPOC after high intensity interval exercise compared to continuous moderate intensity exercise, in men with metabolic syndrome. This study thus aims to examine if exercise of higher intensity is more effective with regards to increased post-exercise oxygen consumption than moderate intensity exercise.

The primary aim of this study was to investigate post-exercise oxygen consumption after three sessions of aerobic exercise with different intensity, in patients with metabolic syndrome. It was hypothesized that total EPOC was greater after high intensity interval training compared to continuous moderate aerobic exercise and furthermore, that four aerobic intervals increase EPOC more than both continuous moderate exercise and one aerobic interval.

2 Methods

Subjects

In total seven men aged 39 to 70 years from the Trondheim area, with metabolic syndrome defined according to the IDF-criteria (1) volunteered to participate in the study. The Regional Ethics Committee, Norway, approved the study. All subjects were fully acquainted with the nature of the study and informed of the experimental risks before signing a written consent form to participate. It was explicitly stated to the subjects that they could withdraw from the study at any point. Exclusion criteria included unstable angina, recently cardiac infarction (4 weeks), uncompensated heart failure, severe valvular illness, pulmonary disease, uncontrolled hypertension, kidney failure, orthopedic/neurological limitations, cardiomyopathy, planned surgery during the research period, reluctance to sign the consent from, drug or alcohol abuse or involvement in another study. The subjects' physiological characteristics and anthropometrics are shown in table 1.

Variables	Mean \pm s.d.
Age (years)	56.7 ± 10.8
Height (cm)	181.1 ± 8.6
Body mass (kg)	106.0 ± 12.9
BMI (kg·m ⁻²)	32.5 ± 4.6
VO _{2max} (ml·kg ⁻¹ min ⁻¹)	33.2 ± 8.8
HR _{max}	174.0 ± 21.4

Table. 1. Physical characteristics of study participants (n=7)

BMI, body mass index; HR_{max} , the peak hearth rate reached during the VO_{2max} test plus five beats.

Experimental approach to the problem

In order to test the hypothesis that total EPOC is greater after high intensity interval training compared to continuous moderate exercise (CME) and further, that four aerobic intervals (4-AIT) increase EPOC more than both continuous moderate exercise (CME) and one aerobic interval (1-AIT), all participants completed the three different modes of aerobic exercise, on separate test days.

To equalize training volume (spending the same amount of kcals each session) between 4-AIT and CME, the CME session was performed by 47 minutes at 70% of HR_{max} , as previously described (28). The order of execution of the three different training sessions was decided by randomization carried out by The Unit of Applied Research unit at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU).

Pre experimental procedures

The study's subjects reported to the laboratory for preliminary testing approximately one week before the experiments started. Anthropometrical data was then recorded including height and body weight. Further, VO_{2max} was measured during uphill running or walking, by employing an individualized protocol using the Jaeger Oxycon Pro (Erich Jaeger, Viasys Healthcare, Germany). Subjects performed a warm up for 10 minutes at approximately 70% of maximum heart rate. Criteria for reaching the true VO_{2max} was a leveling off of oxygen uptake despite increased workload and a respiratory exchange ratio >1.05 (29).This was achieved for all individuals. The heart rate was monitored by a Polar RS 400 (Polar Electro, Kempele Finland) and the highest HR value during the test was defined as HR_{max}.

Experimental protocol

Subjects arrived at the laboratory between 07.00 a.m. and 08.00 a.m. on test days following a 12-hr overnight fast. They were instructed not to perform vigorous activity for 48 hours, not to consume alcohol in 36 hours and not to consume any caffeine or nicotine for 12 hours prior to each test day (30). They had their last meal at 08.00 p.m. on the day before testing. The first 15-20 minutes after arrival to the laboratory the subjects rested, sitting comfortably in a chair. Weight was measured before they underwent a 20 minutes measurement of RMR. After completing the RMR measurements, they performed one exercise session with 1-AIT, 4-AIT or CME. Within five minutes of completing the exercise session subjects returned to the respiratory canopy and EPOC was measured until baseline VO_2 was established. If EPOC lasted for more than 30 minutes, the participants had a ten minute break from the canopy every thirty minutes of measurements. Heart rate was measured continuously during and after exercise until VO_2 reached baseline values.

All subjects performed three test days with at least 48 hours between each. Identical procedures were applied to each test day concerning RMR, post-exercise VO_2 measurements, but with different aerobic exercise modes for each day of testing.

Resting metabolic rate measurement

The resting metabolic rate was measured with indirect calorimetry (Vmax29 Sensor Medics, Yorba Linda, CA, USA). Participants rested in a comfortable and supine position in a quiet room with their head enclosed in a Plexiglas canopy on a pleasant bed for approximately 20 minutes until steady state conditions were achieved with a 5-minute period with $\leq 10\%$ coefficient of variation (CV) for VO₂ and VCO₂ (30). The average of the last five 1-minute measurements was used as baseline VO₂. A computerized, open-circuit indirect calorimetric system with a ventilated canopy was used to record RMR (Figure 1). Room temperature was kept at a constant 22-24 °C. Prior to each test the cart was calibrated for CO₂ and VCO₂ every minute. The subjects were checked frequently throughout the test to make sure they were comfortable and awake. The canopy and plastic sheet were also checked throughout the test to make sure that the canopy was tightly fitted and there were no air leaks.



Figure 1. View of the equipment used in the experiment.

Exercise training protocol

The subjects performed all three aerobic exercise sessions walking or running on a treadmill (Woodway PPS Med, Munich Germany). The adjustments of incline and speed were made on an individual basis according to each subject's fitness level. When subjects performed the interval sessions they warmed up at 70% of HR_{max} for 10 minutes. Following this, they carried out one (1-AIT) or four intervals (4-AIT) at 85-95% of HR_{max} with three minutes active recovery period at 70% of HR_{max} . For the continuously moderate exercise (CME), they performed 47 minutes at 70% of HR_{max} . All subjects used heart rate monitors to ensure that the exercise was performed at the appropriate intensity.

EPOC measurement

EPOC was measured in 1 O_2 per minute post-exercise until baseline oxygen consumption was established. Substrate utilization was measured by respiratory exchange ratio (RER). When the average of five consecutive 1-min EPOC values was equaled to the baseline VO₂ values, the subject was considered to have reached baseline and the VO₂ measurement were stopped. EPOC duration was considered to be the time from five minutes after completion of exercise to the first minute of the 5-minute average that established baseline (20, 31).

Area under the curve calculation

The trapezium rule (32) was used to calculate the total area under the curve (AUC) for each time period of the EPOC measurements, depending on the individual duration of EPOC. AUC was further determined by subtracting the pre-exercise resting oxygen consumption values for each data collection period from the total AUC. The area under the curve is calculated by adding the areas under the graph between each pair of consecutive observation. Thus we get (t2-tl) (Yi+y2)/2, and this is known as the trapezium rule because of the shape of each segment of the area under the curve (32).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Excel (Microsoft Office for Windows, version 2010) and SPSS software version 18 for Windows (Statistical Package for Social Science, Chicago, IL). The Shapiro-Wilk test showed that all data was normally distributed. A paired t-test was used to test for differences between subjects' responses from the three different exercise protocols. Statistical significance was accepted at p<0.05. Results are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD).

Results

Baseline VO₂, EPOC magnitude and EPOC duration.

Mean Baseline VO₂, total EPOC magnitude in 1 O₂ and total EPOC duration in minutes are represented in Table 2. Mean baseline VO₂ values (\pm SD) for each exercise session were not statistically different at (p< 0.05). The 4-AIT exercise session produced the highest average EPOC in 1 O₂ and duration in minutes, followed by CME and then 1-AIT.

Table 2. Baseline VO_2 l/min, duration of EPOC in minutes, and total EPOC in liters for the three different exercise sessions.

Variable	4-AIT	1-AIT	СМЕ
Baseline VO ₂ (l/min)	0.25 ± 0.01	0.24 ± 0.01	0.24 ± 0.01
EPOC duration (min)	$70.4 \pm 24.8*$	$35.9~\pm~17.3$	45.6 ± 17.3
EPOC VO ₂ (l)	$2.8 \pm 1.4*$	1.3 ± 1.1	1.4 ± 1.1

Values are presented as means \pm SD. EPOC excess post-exercise oxygen consumption. 4-AIT four aerobic intervals training. 1-AIT one aerobic interval training. CME continuous moderate exercise. *Significantly different (p < 0.05) from 1-AIT and CME. There was a significant difference (p< 0.05) between 4-AIT and CME and 1-AIT, while there were no significant difference between 1-AIT and CME (p>0.05), both in total magnitude of EPOC in 1 O_2 and EPOC duration in minutes (fig.2). This indicated that EPOC in liters for 4-AIT was 49.8% higher than for CME, while total mean EPOC in 1 O_2 for CME was 5.6% higher than for 1-AIT.



Figure 2. EPOC in 1 O₂, mean and 95% CI.

EPOC excess post-exercise oxygen consumption, 4-AIT four aerobic intervals training. 1-AIT one aerobic interval training. CME continuous moderate exercise CI confidence interval.

*Significantly different (p < 0.05) from 1-AIT and CME.

۷

After completion of exercise, there was an initial rapid decline in O_2 consumption, but O_2 uptake remained elevated above pre-exercise/baseline O_2 values for 70.4 (± 24.8) min. (4-AIT), 35.8 (± 17.3) min. (1-AIT) and 45.6 (± 17.5) min. (CME). Figure 3 illustrates the mean recovery curves for the three different exercise sessions.



Figure 3. Area graph of mean excess post-exercise oxygen consumption.

4-AIT four aerobic intervals training. 1-AIT one aerobic interval training. CME continuous moderate exercise.

Individual EPOC values for the different exercise session are shown in figure 4. Considerable individual variations is observed among the subjects, but there is significant increase in EPOC related to exercise intensity between 4-AIT and CME (p=0.040) and between 4-AIT and 1-AIT (p=0.017).



Figure 4. EPOC magnitude presented for all seven subjects. EPOC excess post-exercise oxygen consumption. 4-AIT four aerobic intervals training. 1-AIT one aerobic interval training. CME continuous moderate exercise.

4 Discussion

Physical activity is central in the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome, as effective weight reduction and increased energy expenditure reduce all risk factors associated with metabolic syndrome. The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of high intensity interval exercise compared to continuous moderate exercise on EPOC, and whether exercise intensity could beneficially affect the post-exercise energy metabolism in men with metabolic syndrome.

The results of the study revealed that 4-AIT produced the highest total amount of EPOC in men with metabolic syndrome. Further, the results indicated that there was a significant difference between 4-AIT and CME, and between 4-AIT and 1-AIT, while there was no significant difference between 1-AIT and CME.

Evidence from previous research indicates that EPOC can be manipulated by changes in intensity and duration of the exercise sessions (14, 16). In the current study, examining the effect of exercise intensity, the mean EPOC was significantly greater for 4-AIT than for CME and 1-AIT. This result clearly shows that intensity of the exercise session can manipulate the resultant EPOC. Despite contradictory findings concerning the effect of exercise on EPOC, previous research investigating the effect of EPOC on exercise intensity has shown a positive relationship between exercise intensity and EPOC. Gore and Withers (21) found that exercise intensity was the determining factor in elevating EPOC accounting for 45.5% of the systematic variance of EPOC. Bahr and Sejerstedt (15) also reported an exponential increase in EPOC through increasing exercise intensity, where they observed EPOCs of 1.3 ± 0.5 , 5.7 \pm 1.7 and 30.1 \pm 6.4 l O₂ after an 80 minute cycling session at 29, 50 and 75% of VO_{2max} respectively. The subjects of both studies were physically active men performing a different exercise protocol than the current study, so the amount of EPOC found in their studies may not be directly comparable to ours. Physiological adaptations associated with improved aerobic fitness are considered to be a variable that affects EPOC. Therefore, several studies have compared EPOC in subjects with differing training status. Mostly these studies found there was no EPOC differences between the trained and untrained subjects, despite that they exercised at the same relative intensity (16). However, Chad and Quigley (18) found a greater EPOC response in trained female cyclists compared to untrained women after 30 minutes cycling at 50% and 70% of VO_{2max}.

The difference appeared immediately after exercise. This may be explained by higher absolute exercise intensity, thus a higher VO₂ in the trained individuals. When exercise is executed at the same percentage of VO_{2max}, the trained individuals consume more oxygen than the untrained because of their higher VO_{2max} (33). Therefore, at the start of the post exercise recovery phase VO₂ is elevated, resulting in a major potential amount for the fast phase of EPOC. The ATP/PCr stores appears to be higher in trained individuals, and because PCr replenishment has been associated with fast phase of EPOC (33), this may explain why exercise of the same relative intensity has a higher effect in endurance-trained individuals. With more VO₂ consumed faster, a trained person may be able reestablish more ATP/PCr. Accordingly, it appears that trained individuals have larger magnitude of fast EPOC, but that total EPOC tends to be similar and total recovery time shorter than in untrained individuals (34). Looking at these results, one can see that the trend of findings is similar concerning the exercise intensity notwithstanding the different training status of the subjects. This is in agreement with the findings related to exercise intensity, presented in this study where EPOC in liters for 4-AIT at 85-90% of VO_{2max} was 49.8% higher than for CME at 70% of VO_{2max}.

Concerning the effect on EPOC by duration of exercise, Chad and Wenger (35) suggested that duration of exercise was more important than intensity in determining EPOC. In their study, one group was cycling for 15 and 30 minutes at 70% of VO_{2max} , while a second group cycled for 38 minutes at 50% of VO_{2max} (equal total work). This resulted in higher EPOC after the longer sessions for both groups. Later (36) they also suggested that when exercise duration was increased 1.5 and 2 times, EPOC in 1 O₂ increased by 2.35 and 5.3 times respectively. As the results of our study show, there were no significant differences on EPOC in 1 O₂ or duration in minutes between the CME sessions lasting for 47 minutes, and the 1-AIT sessions with a total duration of 17 minutes. The CME session was 2.7 times longer than the 1-AIT session, thus our results do not support the findings of Chad and Wenger. When magnitude of EPOC is considered, the manipulation of exercise duration may not be as effective as manipulation of exercise intensity.

Still, the interaction between intensity and duration of exercise is not completely understood, and it may be complicated to separate the effect of each of these variables. However, the exercise intensity has to reach a certain level for the EPOC magnitude to be affected (16). Interestingly, when a constant 50 minute run was compared to two 25 min runs at the same intensity (70% of VO_{2max}), the split session significantly increased EPOC (25). Total mean EPOC after the two split sessions was equivalent to 3.1 1 O₂ versus 1.4 1 O₂ after the continuous session. This reveals that the difference of total EPOC magnitude was relatively small. The 4-AIT session of our study was divided in 4 interval runs with 3 minutes active pause between each interval. This session also produced the highest amount of EPOC, but this is possibly mainly caused by exercise intensity.

Also, inter-individual variability in EPOC response should be taken in consideration. Figure 3 shows each subject's response to exercise at the same relative exercise stimulus on EPOC, and discrepancy among the subjects is obvious. Consequently, it can be hypothesized that there are high, medium and low responders, corresponding to the findings of several parameters in response to exercise where studies have shown marked individual differences in responsiveness to exercise (37). For example age and sex are not main determinants of human responses to exercise, whereas the pre training level of a phenotype has a considerable impact in some cases. Familial factors (shared environment and genetic factors) also contribute significantly to variability in response to exercise (37). This makes it difficult no know whether the observed variability among the subjects is a result of biological variation or caused by measurement errors.

Moreover, to pursue the effect of EPOC on obesity, which is a result of positive energy balance over time, EPOC may play a part to the opposite when strenuous exercise such as 4-AIT is undertaken regularly. However, this has to be investigated further and over time before any conclusion can be made. Furthermore, it has to be noted that the exercise itself plays an important role in weight reduction. Still, protocols focusing on regular steady state exercise with moderate intensity have previously shown negligible weight loss (38). Regular high intensity exercise has been shown to increase aerobic and anaerobic fitness, and further, high intensity exercise also seems to lower insulin resistance, and may result in several muscle adaptations that may enhance skeletal muscle fat oxidation and improve glucose tolerance (7). High intensity exercise have also been shown to increase levels of catecholamines (39), and elevated levels are believed to be partly responsible for EPOC (13).

Interestingly, concentrations of catecholamines do not increase during exercise, except if the intensity of exercise exceeds 70% of VO_{2max} (7). The response of catecholamines can be an important feature, as especially epinephrine has shown to drive lipolysis, and are largely responsible for the fat release (7).

Concerning physical exercise as prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome, where effective weight reduction decreases the risk factors associated with metabolic syndrome, it seems appropriate to recommend high intensity interval exercise. Higher exercise intensity training has been shown to be more effective in decreasing risk and preventing metabolic syndrome compared to lower intensity training. A previous study demonstrated that high intensity exercise training was superior to moderate-intensity training in reversing risk factors of metabolic syndrome (40). An increased EPOC in addition to reversing risk factors of metabolic syndrome makes high intensity intervals beneficial in preventing the metabolic syndrome.

There are several methodological concerns that are important to consider in EPOC experiments. An accurate control of the pre-experimental conditions and a precise reproducibility in the RMR measures are fundamental in order to detect small, but possible differences. Børsheim and Bahr (14) determined that body weight, food intake and exercise should be controlled, though pre experimental guidelines were given. Also it is suggested that subjects should sleep overnight in the laboratory before test days to avoid exercise in the morning. Due to limitations concerning the scale of the study some items were difficult to control. This may explain the disparity among the subjects in our study, though it is difficult to identify the factor/s that may have affected the result of our study, even if it was given as strict as possible guidelines as described in the experimental protocol. Time was the main limiting factor in this study, and the number of subjects could be too low for any statistical conclusions and generalizations regarding larger population samples. Because of inter-individual variability in EPOC, it is important with a high enough number of study participants, to be able to detect differences among different exercise protocols.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of this study suggest that exercise intensity positively and exponentially affects EPOC in men with metabolic syndrome. Notwithstanding the higher EPOC for 4-AIT, the major contribution of both treatments to weight loss is via the energy expended during the actual exercise, and the exercise should likely be undertaken regularly for EPOC to have an increasing effect on weight reduction.

5 Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Arnt Erik Tjønna and Boye Welde for supervising me through this study. Furthermore, I would like to thank Catia Martins for technical assistance. A special thanks to the subjects for their participation and patience during the study.

6 References

1. Federation ID. The IDF consensus worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome2005. Available from: <u>www.idf.org</u>.

2. Eckel, R.H., Grundy, S.M., Zimmet, P.Z. The metabolic syndrome. *The Lancet*. 2005;365(9468):1415-28.

3. Ford, E.S., Giles, W.H., Dietz, W.H., Prevalence of the Metabolic Syndrome Among US Adults. Findings From the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*. 2002;287:356-359.

4. Katzmarzyk, P.T., Church, T.S., Blair, S.N. Cardiorespiratory Fitness Attenuates the Effects of the Metabolic Syndrome on All-Cause and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in Men. *Arch Intern Med.* 2004;164:1092-7.

5. Katzmarzyk, P.T., Ross, R., Church, T.S., Blair, S.N., Janssen, J. Metabolic Syndrome, Obesity, and Mortality. Impact of cardiorespiratory fitness. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28(2):392.

6. Stiegler, P., Cunliffe, A. The Role of Diet and Exercise for the Maintenance of Fat-Free Mass and Resting Metabolic Rate During Weight Loss. *Sports Med.* 2006;36(3):239-62.

7. Boutcher SH. High-intensity intermittent exercise and fat loss. Journal of obesity. 2011;868305.

8. Lee, M.G., Sedlock, D.A., Flynn, M.G., Kamimori, G.H. Resting metabolic rate after endurance exercise training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2009;41(7):1444-51.

9. Oliver, D., Fournier, G., Tremblay, A., Despres, J.P., Bouchard, C. Lean-body-mass composition and resting energy expenditure before and after long-term overfeeding. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1992;56:840-7.

10. Sparti, A., DeLanya, J.P., Bretonnea, J.A., Sandera, G.E., Braya, G.A. Relationship between resting metabolic rate and the composition of the fat-free mass. *Metabolism*. 1997;46(10):1225-30.

11. Speakman, J.R., Selman, C. Physical activity and resting metabolic rate. *Proc Nutr Soc.* 2003;62(3):621-34.

12. Henderson, G.C., Fattor, J.A., Horning, M.A., Faghihnia, N., Johnson, M.L., Mau, T.L., et al. Lipolysis and fatty acid metabolism in men and women during the postexercise recovery period. *The Journal of physiology*. 2007;584:963-81.

13. Gaesser, G.A., Brooks, G.A. Metabolic bases of post-exercise oxygen consumption: a review. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1984;16(1):29-43.

14. Børsheim, E., Bahr, R. Effect of Exercise Intensity, Duration and Mode on Post-Exercise Oxygen Consumption. *Sports Med.* 2003;33(14):1037-60.

Bahr, R., Sejerstedt, O.M. Effect of intensity of Exercise on Excess Postexercise 0₂
Consumption. *Metabolism.* 1991;40(8):836-41.

16. LaForgia, J., Withers, R.T., Gore, C.J. Effects of exercise intensity and duration on the excess post-exercise oxygen consumption. *J Sports Sci.* 2006;24(12):1247-64.

17. Sedlock, D.A., Fissinger, J.A., Melby, C. L. Effect of exercise intensity and duration on postexercise energy expenditure. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1989;21(6).

18. Chad, K.E, Quigley, B.M. Exercise intensity: Effect of postexercise O2 uptake in trained an untrained women. *J Appl Physiol*. 1991;70:1713-9.

19. Phelain, J.F., Reinke, E., IIaris, M.A., Melby, C.L. Postexercise energy expenditure and substrate oxidation in young women resulting from exercise bouts of different intensity. J *Am Coll Nutr.* 1998;16:140-6.

20. Sedlock, D.A. Effect of exercise intensity on postexercise energy expenditure in women*. *Br J Sports Med.* 1991;25:38-40.

21. Gore, C.J., Withers, R.T. Effect of exercise intensity and duration on posexercise metabolism. *American Physiological Society*. 1990;68(6):2362-8.

22. Wong, T., Harber, V. Lower excess postexercise oxygen consumption and altered growth hormone and cortisol responses to exercise in obese men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2006;91(2):678-86.

23. Knab, A.M., Shanely, R.A., Corbin, K.D., Jin, F., Sha, W., Nieman, D.C. A 45-minute vigorous exercise bout increases metabolic rate for 14 hours. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2011;43(9):1643-8.

24. Laforgia, J., Withers, R.T., Shipp, N.J., Gore, C.J. Comparison of energy expenditure elevations after submaximal and supramaximal running. *J Appl Physiol*. 1997;82:661-6.

25. Kaminsky, L.A., Padjen, S., LaHam-Saeger, J. Effect of split exercise sessions on excess post-exercise oxygen consumption. *British journal of Medicine*. 1990;24(2):95-8.

26. Almuzaini, K.S., Potteiger, J.A., Green, S.B. Effects of Split Exercise Sessions on Excess Postexercise Oxygen Consumption and Resting Metabolic Rate. *Can J Appl Physiol*. 1998;23(5):433-43.

27. Irving, B.A., Davis, C.K., Brock, D.W., Weltman, J.Y., Swift, D., Barrett, E.J., et al. Effect of exercise training intensity on abdominal visceral fat and body composition. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2008;40(11):1863-72.

28. Øivind, R., Hetland, E., Helgerud, J., Hoff, J., Slørdahl, S.A. High intensity aerobic interval exercise is superior to moderate intensity exercise for increasing aerobic capacityin patients with coronary artery disease. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation*. 2004;11:216-22.

29. Aspenes, S.T., Nilsen, T.I., Skaug, E.A., Bertheussen, G.F., Ellingsen, Ø., Vatten, L., Wisløff, U. Peak oxygen uptake and cardiovascular risk factors in 4631 healthy women and men. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43:1465-73.

30. Compher, C., Frankenfield, D., Keim, N., Roth-Yousey, L. Best practice methods to apply to measurement of resting metabolic rate in adults: a systematic review. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2006;106(6):881-903.

31. Lyons, S., Richardson, M., Bishop, P., Smith, J., Heath, J., Giesen, J. Excess postexercise oxygen consumption in untrained men following exercise of equal energy expenditure: comparasions of upper and lower body exercise. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism.* 2007;9:889-94.

32. Matthews, J.N.S., Altman, D.G, Campbell, M.J., Royston, P. Analysis of serial measurements in medical research. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*. 1990;300:230-5.

33. Tomlin, D.L., Wenger, H.A. The Relationship Between Aerobic Fitness and Recovery from High Intensity Intermittent Exercise. *Sports Med.* 2001;31(1):1-11.

34. Sedlock, K.R, Sedlock, D.A. Excess postexercise oxygen consumption and recovery rate in trained and untrained subjects. *J Appl Physiol*. 1997;83:153-9.

35. Chad, K.E., Wenger, H.A. The effect of intensity on the exercise and post-exercise and post-exercise metabolic rate. *Austian Journal of science medicine in sport*. 1985;17:14-8.

36. Chad, K.E., Wenger, H.A. The effect of exercise duration on the exercise and postexercise oxygen consumption. *Can J Sport Sci.* 1988;13(4):204-7. 37. Bouchard, C., Rankinen, T. Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2001;6:446-51.

38. Wu, T., Gao, X., Chen, M., van Dam, R.M. Long-term effectiveness of diet-plusexercise interventions vs. diet-only interventions for weight loss: a meta-analysis. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*. 2009;10(3):313-23.

39. Zouhal, H.J., Delamarche, C., Gratas-Delamarche, P, et al. Catecholamines and the Effects of Exercise, Training and Gender. *Sports Med.* 2008;38:401-23.

40. Tjonna, A.E., Lee, S. J., Rognmo, O., Stolen, T.O., Bye, A., Haram, P.M., Loennechen, J.P., et al. Aerobic interval training versus continuous moderate exercise as a treatment for the metabolic syndrome: a pilot study. *Circulation*. 2008;118(4):346-54.